Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: **79,835**

THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO: 91-2240

JOSE V. SILVA and ALMA E. SILVA

Appellants

VS.

SERAFIN HERNANDEZ

Appellee

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELANT

JORGE L. GONZALEZ, ESQUIRE Attorney for Appellant 3934 S.W. 8th Street Suite 302 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 445-1457

STATEMENT OF CASE

The Appellants, JOSE V. SILVA and ALMA E. SILVA, the Defendants below, perfected this appeal in due course from a Summary Final Judgment of Mortgage Foreclosure, granting re-establishment of a lost note, money damages, court costs, attorney's fees and sale of real property in Dade County, Florida.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as Appellants and Appelle. The following symbols are adopted **for** reference:

"R" for "Original Record on Appeal"

The Appellee filed its Complaint in this cause on March 26, 1991, to reestablish a lost note and to foreclose on the securing mortgage. (R 2-9) The Appellants filed their Answer and Affirmative Defenses of waiver for failure to produce the Note on April 23, 1991. (R 11-12)

Appelle filed a general denial to the Affirmative Defenses (R-13) and Motion for Summary Final Judgment, (R 15-26) Appellant filed its Affidavit in Opposition to Summary Judgment. (R 27-29, 30-31) The Honorable Rosemary Usher Jones, one of the Judges of the lower tribunal, presided over the Motion for Summary Final Judgment.

The Third District Court of appeals affirmed the trial count's Summary Judgment, holding that Appellants affidavitin opposition to Summary Judgment was untimely filed and made no ruling as to the other points on appeal.(R-46)

On August 19, 1992, this Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Dispensing with Oral Argument.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant, on September 18, 1987, executed a Note and Mortgage for \$10,000.00 encumbering real property in Dade County, Florida to Appellee. (R 8-9) Pursuant to said note, Appellants were to make monthly payments of interest **only** to the Appelle. (R 8)

Once monthly payments were started, Appellants were instructed to make interest payment to Appellee's Mother. (R 30) On or before October 17, 1988, Appellant tendered payment but the note was not produced. (R 30, 31) Appellee had in fact lost the note. (R 3-4,22) Subsequent to Appellants' offer to pay the note, two persons made claim upon the funds represented by the note. (R 30)

Appellee proceeded to file the complaint to reestablish the note, **and** at the same time, foreclose on the mortgage. Subsequently, Appellee filed his motion for summary judgment.

On August 20, 1991, Appellant, ALMA E. SILVA, executed her Affidavit in Opposition to Summary Judgment. On the same day, the day prior to the hearing, Appellant delivered a copy of the Affidavit upon Appelle's attorney. The following day, prior to the commencement of the hearing upon the Motion for Summary Judgment, the original affidavit was filed with the presiding Judge.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE I

Whether the trial court erred in disregarding as untimely an affidavit in opposition to summary judgment which had been delivered to movant's attorney the day **prior** to the hearing and was filed with the Court on the day of the hearing prior to commencement **of** same.

ISSUE II

Whether the trial **court** erred in granting Summary Judgment **of** Foreclosure when the record before the **court** showed that Appellant had timely tendered payment but Appellee was unable to produce the negotiable instrument **for** surrender and cancellation.

ISSUE III

Whether the trial court erred in granting Appelle interest, costs and attorneys fees in derogation of §673.604 (1)Florida Statutes 1989.

ARGUMENT

Ι

The trial count erred in disregarding as untimely an Affidavit in opposition to Summary judgment which, although filed with the **Court** immediately prior to commencing the hearing, had been served by delivered to the movant's counsel on the day prior to the hearing, in compliance with Florida Rules Of Civil Procedure 1.510(c).

In upholding the trial count, the Third District Court of Appeals relied on Hartford Accident & Indem. Co. v. Gillette, 519 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Auerbach v. Alto, 281 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973); and Hardcastle v. Mobley, 143 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962).

The case of <u>Hartford v. Gillette</u>, supra, can be distinguished in that the affidavit and deposition that the party attempted to use in opposition to the motion **for** summary judgment, were filed several days after the motion was heard.

In both <u>Hardcastle v. Moblev</u>, supra, and <u>Auerbach v. Alto</u>, supra, the affidavits **were** apparently first brought in at the hearing on the motions for summary judgment, no mention is made as to when service was achieved. Both courts in reaching their decisions relied on <u>Cleveland Trust Co. v. Foster</u>, **93** So. 2d **112** (Fla. 1957), and on <u>Siciliano v. Hunerberg</u>, 135 So. 2d **750** (Fla. 2d DCA 1961).

In <u>Cleveland Trust Co. v. Foster</u>, supra, the Supreme Court held that an

affidavitin opposition to Motions for Summary Judgment which was filed **and** served at the hearing on the motion was not timely served. The Court emphasized that service was to be made prior to the day of the hearing, as **was** achieved in the instant case.

The Second District Court of Appeals specifically stated in <u>Burton v. GOV</u> Contracting Corporation, 552 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), that its Siciliano decision, did not hold that the affidavit must be filed the day before the hearing, merely that it must be filed prior to the hearing. In its opinion, the Burton Court made a careful study of the requirements of Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.510 (c), and the differences between service, as required in the rule, and filing. In reaching its decision, the Burton Court examined Miami Transit Company v. Ford, 155 So. 2d 360 (Fla. 1963), which, although interpreting rule 2.8 (b) Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, the Supreme Court determined in that case that the rule, which specifically required service of a motion within a prescribed time, would only require its filing with reasonable promptness. The Burton Court determined therefrom that Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.510(c) requires service of the affidavit the day prior to the hearing and filing promptly thereafter. See also Henry Stiles Inc. v. Evans, 206 So. 2d 65 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968), which held that physical delivery of the affidavit on the day **prior** to the hearing is what is required by Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.510(c).

In the instant case, the affidavit was hand delivered to movant's attorney on the day prior to the hearing (R.27-29, 30-31), and should not have been disregarded by the trial Court, The trial court erred, in granting Summary Judgment of Foreclosure when the uncontroverted facts before the Court showed that Appellant had tendered payment but Appelle was unable to surrender the Note until after the Order Re-establishing same.

It is well established that on Motion for Summary Judgment, it is the burden of the moving party to show conclusively the absence of any genuine issue of material fact. Harvey Building., Inc. v. Haley, 175 So. 2d 780 (Fla. 1965); Prudential-L.M.L. Commercial V. Sears, 572 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). If the record reflects the existence of any genuine issue of material fact, or the possibility of any issue, or even the slightest doubt that an issue might exist, then Summary Judgment is improper. Grissett v. Circle K. Corporation of Texas. 593 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). Further, when a Defendant has asserted affirmative defenses, Summary Judgment for Plaintiff can be granted only when each such affirmative defense has been conclusively refuted on the record, Pandol Bros., Inc. v. N.C.N.B. National Bank of Florida, 450 So. 2d (Fla. 4 DCA 1984).

Appellant affirmatively asserted Waiver as a result of tender and failure to produce the negotiable instrument for cancellation. (R 11-12) The Affidavit, filed in opposition to the Summary Judgment, again sets out the tender of payment, demand for cancellation of note, and appellee's inability to produce the note. (R 27-29, 30-31) Appellees Motion for Summary Judgment fails to allege demand and refusal to pay (R 15-18), and his affidavit fails to refute the allegations of the affirmative defenses (R 22,231, indeed, the "Affidavit of Lost, Misplaced or Destroyed Promissory Note and

Mortgage" in essence admits that **he** had lost the note at some point in time after receiving same. (R 22)

Having failed to controvert or disprove the affirmative defenses, to obtain Summary Judgment Appellee must establish their legal insufficiency. Propietors Ins. Co. v. Siegel, 410 So. 2d 993 (Fla 3d DCA 1982), The Race v. Lake & River Rec. Props., 573 So. 2d 409 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

Section 673.505 Florida Statutes (1989), states that the debtor may, without dishonor, require that the instrument be produced **for** payment and its surrender upon full payment. The surrender of the instrument, the note herein, is made necessary by Section 673.605 (2) Florida Statutes (1989), which states:

"Neither cancellation nor renunciation without surrender of the instrument affects the title thereto."

Appellee does not attempt to represent appellants' tender and demand for surrender as legally insufficient to bar to Summary Judgment, rather he apparently concedes same as in his affidavit he agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Appellant and states:

"4. That the affiant is making this Affidavit to induce JOSE V. SILVA and ALMA E. SILVA, to tender payment..."
(R 22)

There is no factual issue that the Appellee Could not produce the note when Appellants tendered payment and were ready, willing and able to do so. Section 673.505(2) Florida Statutes (1989), states that when the creditor can not produce the note the time **for** payment does not run until the time **of** compliance. All doubts and inferences must **be resolved** against entry of Summary Judgment. <u>Lambert v. Allstate</u>
<u>Insurance Company</u>, **593** So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 1st **DCA** 1992). Appellee was therefore not

entitled to payment until the Court entered its Order Re-establishing the lost note.

Summary Judgment foreclosing the mortgage for default was therefore improper.

The trial court **erred**, upon a Summary Motion for Re-establishment of Lost Note and Foreclosure, in granting interest, costs and attorney's fees where the only facts before the court **were** that payment thereon had been tendered but the instrument had been lost.

In his complaint, the Appellee had two counts: Count I seeking re-establishing of the note and mortgage (R 2-3); and Count II seeking to foreclose the mortgage, sale of the real property and use of the proceeds to be applied to satisfy indebtedness due Appellee. (R 4-5) Although they are contained in the body of Count II (R-5); neither Count sought in its prayer for relief the default of the note, damages, interest, costs of attorney's fees. (R 4, 5-6)

In his motion for Summary Final Judgment, Appellee merely prays for entry of Final Summary Judgment and that the lost note and mortgage be re-established. (R 18)

Section 673.604, Florida Statutes (1989), subsection 1 and 3 state:

- "(1) Any party making tender of full payment to a holder when or after it is due is discharged to the extent of all subsequent liability **for** interest, costs and attorney's fees."
- "(3) Where the maker or acceptor of an instrument payable otherwise than on demand is able and ready to pay at every place of payment specified in the instrument when it is due, it is equivalent to tender."

The only facts before the **Trial** Court were that the Note had been lost (R 22); that Appellant **had** tendered payment (R 30); that the note had not been presented **for** surrender (R 30); that Appellant had been **ready**, willing and able to pay off the

mortgage but for Appellee's inability to produce the original Note. (R 31)

Given the uncontroverted facts, Appellee was as a matter of law not entitled to Summary Judgment granting interest from the date of tender of payment, costs or attorney's fees.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the facts and documents before this court, it is submitted that the Lower Tribunal committed reversible error and abuse of discretion as follows:

A, The court erred in disregarding the Affidavit in Opposition To Summary Judgment.

B. **The** court erred in granting Summary Foreclosure and Sale of the mortgaged property.

C. The court erred in granting pre-judgement interest, costs and attorneys fees.

Under the circumstances, a reversal of the part of the Summary Final Judgment of Mortgage Foreclosure which grants foreclosure and sale, interest, costs and attorney's fees is appropriate and requested.