IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,835

JOSE V. SILVA and ALMA E. SILVA,

Appellants,

vs.

SERAFIN HERNANDEZ,

Appellee.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS On Discretionary Review From the Third District Court of Appeal

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

M MICHELLE B. ALVAREZ, P.A. FICHELLE B. ALVAREZ, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 615617 Attorney for Respondent 800 Douglas Road Suite 170, Building B Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 446-1331

#

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

11. Hernandez may bid at the sale and if Hernandez is the successful bidder, Hernandez shall be entitled on his bid to a credit up to the full amount due under this final judgment, including a credit in the sum of the attorney's fees provided for above.

12. That upon the sale being had in accordance with Chapter 45 of the Florida Statutes, and upon the Clerk filing the certificate of sale and certificate of title. the sale shall stand confirmed and the Defendants to this cause, and all persons claiming by, through or under them, shall be forever barred and foreclosed of any equity or right of redemption in and to the above-described property with the exception of the United States which shall have the right of redemption provided by 28 U.S.C. 2410(c) for 120 days from the date of sale but the right shall thereafter expire and the purchaser at sale shall be let into possession of the property; further, any and all persons whosoever claiming against the subject property by virtue of any liens unrecorded as of the date of the filing of Hernandez's lis pendens with the Clerk of this Court shall be forever barred from asserting any such liens, and any such liens shall be discharged forever, in accordance with the Florida Statutes.

13. That this Court retain jurisdiction of this cause for the purpose of making all other orders and judgments as may **be** necessary and proper, including, but not limited to, deficiency judgments and writs of possession and assistance.

 $\begin{array}{c} \mbox{DONE AND ORDERED in chambers, at Miami, Dade County,} \\ \mbox{Florida this } \underline{21st} \mbox{ day of } \underline{August} \mbox{, 1991.} \end{array}$ 

<u>JUDGE ROSEMARY USHER JONES</u> CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Copies furnished to: Michelle B. Alvarez, Esquire Jorge L. Gonzalez, Esquire

(R. 40-45) (Emphasis supplied).

Mortgagors filed an untimely Motion for Rehearing of Summary Judgment ruling (R. 32-34) and Mortgagee filed a Response to Mortgagors' Motion for Rehearing of Summary Judgment (R. 35-38). After hearing, at which there was, once again, no reporter and no transcript, the Court entered an Order denying Mortgagors' Motion for Rehearing (A. 8).

Mortgagors then filed a timely Notice of Appeal (R. 39). At the Third District Court of Appeal, Mortgagors raised the argument that the trial court had erred because it failed to consider Mortgagor's affidavit in opposition to Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment. Mortgagee argued before the Third District Court of Appeal that any refusal of the trial court to consider Mortgagor's affidavit was proper because of its untimeliness. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed per <u>curian</u> the trial court's judgment with the exception that it reversed and remanded the issue of attorney's fees. The following is a copy of the Third District Court of Appeal's Opinion:

Before NESBITT, BASKIN and FERGUSON, JJ

PER CURIAM.

We affirm the summary final judgment in favor of appellee. The trial court properly disregarded appellants' untimely affidavit. <u>Hartford Accident & Indem. Co. v.</u> Gillette, 519 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); <u>Auerbach v.</u> Alto. 281 So.2d 567 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973); <u>cert.denied</u>, 297 So.2d 31 (Fla. 1974); <u>Hardcastle v. Mobley</u>, 143 So.2d 715 (Fla.3d DCA 1962); <u>contra Burton v. GOV Contracting Corp.</u>, 552 So.2d 293 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

We reverse the award of attorney's fees, however. "[I]t is well settled that the testimony of an expert witness concerning a reasonable attorney's fee is necessary to support the establishment of the fee." <u>Crittenden Orange</u> <u>Blossom Fruit v. Stone</u>, 514 So.2d 351 (Fla.1987); <u>see</u> <u>Hemmerle v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n</u>, 338 So.2d 82 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). Here, the record contains no testimony other than that of the attorney seeking the fees. An award of fees on that record is error. <u>Palmetto Fed. Sav. & Loan</u> <u>Ass'n v. Day</u>, 512 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); <u>Walker v.</u> <u>Kremer</u>, 382 So.2d 338 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); <u>Rodin v. Auto-</u> <u>Train Corp.</u>, 377 So.2d 168 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979). The cause is remanded for the trial court to conduct a hearing on the attorney's fee issue.

Affirmed in part; reversed in part.

# (R.46).

Mortgagors then filed a Motion for Rehearing which the Third District Court of Appeal denied (R. 47). Mortgagors filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and this Court accepted jurisdiction and dispensed with oral argument on August 19, 1992.

#### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

We respectfully restate the issues on appeal as follows:

I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REESTABLISHING THE LOST NOTE AND MORTGAGE AND FORECLOSING ON THE MORTGAGE WHERE THE RECORD FAILS TO SUPPORT THE CONTENTION THAT THE AFFIDAVIT IN OPPOSITION TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS NOT CONSIDERED BY THE TRIAL COURT BECAUSE OF ITS UNTIMELINESS?

### II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THERE IS NO RECORD SUPPORT FOR THE PROPOSITION THAT PAYMENT WAS MADE?

#### III

WHETHER THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES WHERE THE DISTRICT COURT REVERSED AND REMANDED THE AWARD AND THE TRIAL COURT HAS NOT RECONSIDERED THE AWARD?

#### ARGUMENT

Ī

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT REESTABLISHED THE LOST NOTE AND MORTGAGE AND FORECLOSED ON THE MORTGAGE BECAUSE THERE IS NO RECORD TO SUPPORT THE CONTENTION THAT THE AFFIDAVIT WAS NOT CONSIDERED BY THE TRIAL COURT BECAUSE OF ITS UNTIMELINESS.

Mortgagors contend trial court erred in granting Final Summary Judgment of Foreclosure because the trial court refused to consider the untimely affidavit filed in opposition to Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment. The Mortgagors' argument is misplaced and without merit for two reasons, to wit: 1) there is <u>no record to</u> support Mortgagors' contention; and 2) assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, that the trial court did not consider the affidavit, the ruling was proper because the affidavit was untimely.

There is **no record** to support Mortgagors' contentions that the trial court did not consider the affidavit in opposition to Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 30). There was no court reporter present at the hearing on Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment, and a transcript of the hearing does not exist. The only

record there is is the Order appealed and it does not indicate that the trial court refused to consider Mortgagor's untimely affidavit (R. 40-45). On the contrary, the Summary Final Judgment states that the "...Court has considered the motion, affidavits, and the record, has heard argument of counsel for the parties and is otherwise fully advised." (R. 40) (Emphasis supplied). A reviewing court is limited to the face of the record presented. <u>Coffman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 292 So.2d 608 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974). A trial court's decision has the presumption of correctness and the burden is on the party who asserts error to demonstrate it. <u>Applegate v. Barnett</u> <u>Bank of Tallahassee</u>, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979).

In <u>Appleqate</u>, after a non-jury trial without a reporter, the trial court found that <u>Applegates'</u> lien was superior to Barnett Bank's lien. Barnett Bank appealed but did not bring forward any substitute for a trial transcript. The First District Court of Appeal reversed on the grounds that the trial court's judgment was not supported by the facts. However, this Court accepted review and held that:

> Without a record of the trial proceedings, the appellate court cannot properly resolve the underlying factual issues so as to conclude that the trial court's judgment is not supported by the evidence or by an alternative theory. Without knowing the

factual context, neither can an appellate court reasonably conclude that the trial judge so misconceived the law as to require reversal. The trial court should have been affirmed because the record brought forward by the appellant is inadequate to demonstrate reversible error....

Id. at 1152.

In the case at bar, there was no court reporter present at the hearing on Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment, there was no transcript, and Mortgagors failed to provide the Court with a substitute for a trial transcript. This Court's review is limited to the record before it.

The burden to show error is on the party who asserts it. <u>Watson v. State</u>, **218 So.2d 528** (Fla. **3d** DCA 1969). The party asserting error can discharge this burden only by making error clearly, definitely and fully to appear; and failure to meet this burden impels conclusion that there is no error and the judgment or order appealed must be affirmed. <u>Strate v. Strate</u>, 328 So.2d 29 (Fla. **3d** DCA 1976). In the case at bar, Mortgagors have failed to show that error clearly, definitely and fully exists.

This Court must affirm the trial court's Order which reestablishes the lost note and mortgage and forecloses the mortgage because there is no record support to Mortgagors' contention that the trial court refused to consider Mortgagor's Affidavit in

opposition to Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment and Mortgagors have failed to show that error clearly, definitely and fully exists.

Notwithstanding the above argument, assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, that the trial court refused to consider Mortgagor's affidavit in opposition, the court properly **did** *so* because the affidavit was untimely filed. Mortgagor filed the affidavit in opposition to Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment the same day of the hearing (R. 30). In fact, Mortgagors tendered the affidavit to the trial judge during the hearing; the Mortgagors admit that they filed the affidavit the same day as the hearing.

In a Motion for Summary Judgment all opposing affidavits must be filed prior to the day of the hearing. Rule 1.510(c), Fla. R.Civ.P.; <u>Auerbach v. Alto</u>, 281 So.2d 567 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973). "Both the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and the cases interpreting the rules have made it mandatory that affidavits in opposition to motions for summary judgment be filed prior to the day of the hearing.". Id. at 567, 568. In <u>Auerbach</u>, the Third District Court of Appeal held the "... trial judge to be eminently

correct in refusing to consider the affidavit proffered **on** the morning **of** the hearing on plaintiffs' motion for summary **judgment.".** Id. at 568.

The Third District Court of Appeal also held in <u>Hardcastle v.</u> <u>Mobley</u>, 143 So.2d 715 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962), that "[i]t is not sufficient in defense of a motion for summary judgment to rely on the paper issues created by the pleadings, but it is incumbent upon the party moved against to submit evidence to rebut the motion for summary judgment and affidavits in support thereof or the court will presume that he had gone as far as he could **and** a summary judgment could be properly entered ... affidavits in **opposition to** motions for summary judgment must be filed prior to the day of the hearing.". Id. at 717.

Mortgagors rely on <u>Burton v. GOV Contracting Corp.</u>, 552 So.2d 293 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) for the proposition that counteraffidavits can be filed on the day of the hearing. First, the facts in <u>Burton</u> are completely distinguishable from the facts of the case at bar, and therefore <u>Burton</u> is inapplicable. In <u>Burton</u>, GOV sued the defendants alleging a default on a guaranty defendants executed.

The guarantors answered the complaint, **asserting** the affirmative defenses of recoupment and payment and filed a counterclaim seeking damages for Plaintiff's failure to complete the **work** on subdivision improvements. The guarantors eventually withdrew their affirmative defense of payment **before** the hearing on the motion for summary judgment.

The returned incomplete GOV's quarantors answers to interrogatories and request for production of documents. GOV filed a motion to compel and the trial court granted the motion, ordering the defendants to respond fully to the discovery requests within ten days. Guarantors failed to comply with the order and GOV filed sanctions, which motion for the trial court granted. а Specifically, the trial court stayed the guarantors from proceeding further on their counterclaim until they complied with the order compelling discovery.

GOV filed a motion for summary judgment and alleged that guarantors were precluded from asserting recoupment as a defense because it was the same subject matter as the counterclaim, which the trial court had stayed for defendant's failure to comply with the order compelling discovery. The trial court granted GOV's motion on the grounds that the defendant was precluded from raising

recoupment as a defense to the action and because the counteraffidavit was untimely. The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the judgment and held that the trial court committed error in not allowing guarantor's to raise recoupment as a defense to the action and, because the affidavit had been served on counsel the day prior to the hearing and filed with the court on the day of the hearing, the counteraffidavit was not untimely.

In the case at bar, one of the Mortgagors filed an Affidavit in Opposition to Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment on the day of the scheduled hearing (R. 30). No other pleadings or affidavits were filed by Mortgagors. The record is completely devoid of evidence that the trial court refused to consider Mortgagor's affidavit. The only record there is is the Order appealed and it does not indicate that the trial court refused to consider Mortgagor's untimely affidavit (R. 40-45). On the contrary, the Summary Final Judgment states that the "...Court has considered the motion, affidavits, and the record, has heard argument of counsel for the parties and is otherwise fully advised." (R. 40)(Emphasis supplied).

Second, the holding in <u>Burton</u> defies the long standing principle of stare decisis. This Court held in <u>Cleveland Trust</u> <u>Company v. Foster</u>, **93** So.2d 112 (Fla. 1957), that "[t]he motion

shall be served 10 days before the time fixed for the hearing. The adverse party **prior** to the **day of the hearing** may serve opposing affidavits. Id. at 114.Assuming, arguendo, that this Court finds that <u>Burton</u> is in conflict with the holding in this case, Mortgagee urges that <u>Burton</u> must be overruled because its holding is contrary to Rule 1.510(c), Fla.R.Civ.P., and the common law. <u>See</u>, <u>Hartford Accident & Indem. Co. v. Gillette</u>, 519 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Auerbach v. Alto, 281 So.2d 567 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973); <u>cert.</u> denied, 297 So.2d 31 (Fla. 1974); <u>Hardcastle v. Mobley</u>, 143 So.2d 715 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962).

Rule 1.510(c), Fla.R.Civ.P. and interpreting case law mandate that Affidavits in Opposition to Motions for Summary Judgment be filed prior to the day of the hearing. Mortgagors defied the Rule and interpreting case law by filing the Affidavit the day of the hearing (R. 30). Accordingly, the Summary Final Judgment appealed must be <u>affirmed</u>.

### THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THERE IS NO RECORD SUPPORT FOR THE CONTENTION THAT PAYMENT WAS MADE.

Mortgagors contend that Summary Judgment in favor of Mortgagee was improper because Mortgagors tendered payment. Mortgagors' point is without merit. First, the record is completely devoid of any evidence which would support the allegation that payment was tendered. The only reference to tender is in the untimely Affidavit in Opposition to Summary Judgment (R. 30). There is no record support as to whom the alleged tender was made, when the alleged tender was made and/or where the alleged tender was made. Even the Affidavit in Opposition to Summary Judgment fails to state to whom, when and/or where tender was made (R. 30). As a matter of fact, Mortgagee demanded tender from Mortgagors on January 31, 1991 (A. 1), on or about February 28, 1991 (A. 4), and on March 8, 1991 (A. 5) and Mortgagors refused.<sup>2</sup>.

Mortgagee incorporates herein the argument  $\underline{infra}$ , pages 13 through 16 and further asserts that the reviewing Court is limited to the record before it. <u>Coffman v. State</u>, 292 So.2d 608 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974).

<u>II</u>

<sup>2.</sup> 

Second, summary judgment was proper because there were no material issues of fact and Mortgagee was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

A party is entitled to Summary Judgment where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and where the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 1.510(c), Fla.R.Civ.P.; Colon v. Lara, 389 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980).

The First District Court of Appeal in <u>Harrison v. Consumers</u> Mortgage Company, 154 So.2d 195 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963), defined the term "genuine issue" as "...a real as distinguishable from a false or colorable issue.". Id. at 195. And, in Wells v. Wilkerson, 391 So.2d 267 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), the Fourth District Court of Appeal defined a "material fact" as follows: "(a) material fact is one essential to the result that is placed in controversy by the pleadings and affidavits. Thus, to preclude the entry of summary judgment there must be some fact essential to a resolution of the legal questions raised by the case which is genuinely controverted.". Id. at 267.

The material and undisputed facts in **the** case at bar are as follows: Mortgagors executed a note and purchase money mortgage in favor of Mortgagee on September 18, 1987 (R. 6-8). The note matured and became due and payable on October 18, 1988 (R. 7-9). Mortgagors failed to make the payment due on October 18, 1988.

Mortgagee demanded payment from Mortgagors on three different occasions (A. 1, 4-5). Mortgagors did not respond to the letters, did not pay, nor **did** they tender the monies due into escrow or, subsequently, into the court registry.

Mortgagee filed a Complaint to Reestablish Lost Note and Mortgage and to Foreclose Mortgage on March 26, 1991 (R. 2-9) and served Request for Admissions (A. 6). Mortgagors filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses (R. 11-12) and Response to Request for Admissions (A. 7) on April 23, 1991. Mortgagee promptly filed a Denial and Avoidance of Affirmative **Defenses (R. 13) on** April 23, 1991, and on July 19, 1991, Mortgagee filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting Affidavits (R. 15-26). No other pleadings or Affidavits were filed. On August 21, 1991, the day of the scheduled hearing on Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment, Mortgagors handed to the trial judge an Affidavit in Opposition to Summary Judgment executed by Alma E. Silva, one of the Mortgagors (R. 30-31).

The Note, Mortgage and Affidavits filed in support of Mortgagee's Motion for Summary Judgment, upon which the trial judge relied, are in plain english, and speak for themselves (R. 6-8).

The Mortgagors' response to Mortgagee's Request for Admissions is also in plain english and speaks for itself (A.7). The Mortgagors responded in the affirmative to the following statements:

> 1. That the copies of the mortgage and note attached as exhibits to the complaint are true copies of the original instruments which they purport to duplicate.

> 2. That the originals of the mortgage and note, copies of which are attached as exhibits to the complaint, were executed by the person or persons whose signatures appear on those instruments.

> 3. That Plaintiff, SERAFIN HERNANDEZ, loaned monies in accordance with the mortgage and note, copies of which are attached as exhibits to the complaint.

5. That the loan made pursuant to the instruments, copies of which are attached as exhibits to the complaint, has not been fully repaid.

6. That all dates of signing, filing, or recordation shown on the exhibits to the complaint accurately reflects the dates on which such instruments were signed, filed or recorded.

7. That you are obligated to plaintiff upon the indebtedness arising from the mortgage and note, copies of which are attached as exhibits to the complaint.

(A. 6-7).

The Second District Court of Appeal held in <u>Castle</u> <u>Construction Company vs. Huttig Sash &</u> Door Company, 425 So.2d 575 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982), that "where the determination of a party's liability depends on the written instruments of the **parties** and their legal effect, the question becomes one of law only and is determinable by summary judgment.". Id. at 575. In the case at bar, the liability of the parties depended on written instruments, a Note and a Mortgage (R. 7-9).

Mortgagors state in their brief that Mortgagee failed to controvert or disprove the affirmative defenses.

While it is true that it is necessary for a plaintiff to show that affirmative defenses have no basis in fact in order to be entitled to summary judgment, this does not mean that by the raising of purely paper issues the defendant can forestall the granting of relief to the plaintiff where the pleadings and evidentiary matters **before** the trial court show that the defenses are without substance in fact or in law. Reflex, N.V. vs. Umet Trust, 336 So. 2d 473, 474-475 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976).

Mortgagors raised as an affirmative defense that "Defendants were ready willing and able to pay off the outstanding balance of said mortgage when said became due. Defendants offered to tender same ...." (R. 11-12). Mortgagee promptly filed a Denial and Avoidance of Affirmative Defenses on April 23, 1991 (R. 13). On July 19, 1991, Mortgagee filed his Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting Affidavits (R. 15-26). No other document, pleading or evidence was submitted by Mortgagors in support of the affirmative defense, or otherwise. Except for the self serving Affidavit, (R. 30), which was signed by only one of the two Mortgagors and which was untimely filed, the record is completely devoid of evidence as to whom, when and where the alleged tender was made. In fact, even the Affidavit itself fails to state to whom the alleged tender was made, when the alleged tender was made, and/or where the alleged tender was made (R. 30).

In the case at bar, the determination of Mortgagors' liability depended upon a written instrument (R. 6-8). The pleadings and affidavits filed in this case conclusively show that there was no genuine issue as to any material fact, and that Mortgagee was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. "The fundamental purpose for the summary judgment procedure is to relieve the litigant and

the court from the trial of unnecessary lawsuits.". <u>General Truck</u> <u>Sales vs. American Fire & Casualty Company</u>, 100 So.2d 203 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1958). The trial court, in the case at bar, did just that. Accordingly, this Court must <u>affirm</u> the trial court's judgment which reestablishes the lost note and mortgage, awarded Mortgagee pre-judgment interest, cost and attorney's fees and ordered the sale of the property to satisfy the amount of the judgment.

## THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES WHERE THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL REVERSED AND REMANDED THE AWARD AND THE TRIAL COURT HAS NOT YET RECONSIDERED THE AWARD.

Mortgagors contend that the trial court erred in awarding Mortgagee's attorney's fees. Mortgagors' argument is, once again, without merit because this Court does not have jurisdiction to consider this issue. In the case at bar, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed and remanded the award of attorney's fees to the trial court, (R. 46), and the attorney's fee issue has not been reviewed de novo by the trial court.

This Court will not review a judgment of a subordinate court unless there a final adjudication. Tantillo v. <u>Miliman</u>, 87 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1956). In Tantillo, this Court held that "[i]t is a rule that a judgment of a subordinate court will not be reviewed here on appeal unless there is a final adjudication of the cause[. 3" In the case at bar, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the **award** of attorney's fees and remanded the cause to the trial court (R.

III

**46)**. The trial court has not yet reviewed the issue of attorney's fees. Thus, this Court does not have jurisdiction to review the claim for attorney's **fees**.

In Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company v. Fichera, 385 So.2d 183 (Fla 4th DCA 1980), the Fourth District Court of Appeal dismissed an appeal because the trial court had reserved jurisdiction on the issue of attorney's fees. In the case at bar, the Order appealed, with regards to the issue on attorney's **fees**, is not "...a final order subject to plenary appeal, nor is it a non-final order subject to interlocutory appeal pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130(a)(3)." Id. at 184. In effect, what the Mortgagors attempt to do is to have this Court review an Order which is not in effect. This Court must decline to review a non-existent order. This Court must dismiss the appeal on the issue of attorney's fees because the Third District Court of Appeal reversed and remanded the issue to the trial court, (**R**. 46), and the issue has not been reviewed by the trial court de novo.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument of counsel and citations of authority, the Mortgagee respectfully requests that the judgment re-establishing the lost note and mortgage, foreclosing on the mortgage, and awarding pre-judgment interest, costs and attorney's fees be affirmed.